IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,	
v.) S.CT. NO. 19-0295
TIMOTHY M. FONTENOT,))
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY HONORABLE PATRICK GRADY, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

ASHLEY STEWART
Assistant Appellate Defender
<u>astewart@spd.state.ia.us</u>
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT <u>FINAL</u>

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY DETERMINED THAT H.N.'S INADMISSIBLE CHILD PROTECTION CENTER VIDEO WAS NON-HEARSAY UNDER IOWA RULE OF EVIDENCE 5.801(D)(1).

Authorities

State v. Buenaventura, 660 N.W.2d 38, 50 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 589 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(1)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(1)(B)

State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 208 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(1)(B) (2015)

State v. Johnson, 539 N.W.2d 160, 161-62 (Iowa 1995)

A. By finding the video was non-hearsay, the district court allowed inadmissible hearsay into evidence.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c) (2017)

State v. Horn, 282 N.W.2d 717, 724 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Jones, 271 N.W.2d 761, 767 (Iowa 1978)

State v. Cagley, 638 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802 (2017)

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6, 18 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 589 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ross, 573 N.W.2d 906, 910 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c)

State v. McKeever, 804 N.W.2d 314, 2011 WL 3115470, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(4) (2017)

State v. Long, 628 N.W.2d 440, 443 (Iowa 2001)

United States v. Renville, 779 F.2d 430, 436 (8th Cir. 1985)

Black's Law Dictionary 648 (6th ed. 1990)

Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)

State v. Bentley, 739 N.W.2d 296, 299-00 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Moore, 808 N.W.2d 449, 2011 WL 4950180, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011)

State v. Tracy, 482 N.W.2d 675, 681 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Tyson, 851 N.W.2d 854, 2014 WL 2346237, at *7–8 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014)

State v. Elliott, 806 N.W.2d 660, 669 (Iowa 2011)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case

Defendant-Appellant Timothy Fontenot appeals his conviction, sentence and judgment following a jury trial resulting in a guilty verdict for two counts of Indecent Contact with a Child, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.12(1) and 903B.2 (2017).

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in District Court

On June 28, 2017, a trial information was filed in Linn County charging Fontenot with two counts of sexual abuse in the second degree, a class B felony, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.1, § 709.3(1)(b) and § 903.B.1 and two counts of Indecent Contact with a Child, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.12(1) and § 903B.2. (Trial Information)

(App. pp. 5-8). A written arraignment and plea of not guilty was entered on July 5, 2017. (Written Arraign. and Not Guilty Plea)(App. p. 9). Fontenot filed a motion to sever the counts on August 11, 2017. (08/11/17 M. Sever)(App. pp. 10-11). The State filed a resistance. (08/17/2017 Resistance)(App. pp. 12-13). On August 17, 2017, Fontenot waived his right to a speedy trial. (Waiver)(App. p. 14). On September 13, 2017, the Court ruled against Fontenot's request to sever the counts. (09/13/17 Other Order)(App. pp. 15-19).

On February 28, 2018, the State filed its notice of intent to present victim's video statement. (Notice of Intent)(App. pp. 20-22). Fontenot filed a motion to suppress evidence seized from Facebook on March 22, 2018. (Suppress)(App. p. 23). Also on March 22, 2018, Fontenot filed an updated waiver of speedy trial. (03/22/2018 Waiver)(App. p. 24). On August 8, 2018, the Court ruled against the motion to suppress. (08/08/2018 Other Order)(App. pp. 25-31).

On December 17, 2018, the State filed a motion to amend trial information to include two additional charges of Indecent Contact with a Child, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.12(1) and § 903B.2. (Motion Amend.)(App. pp. 32-33). The Court approved the amended trial information on December 17, 2018. (Amended Trial Information)(App. pp. 34-39).

Fontenot's trial began on December 17, 2018. (Tr. Vol I, p. 1). Fontenot was found guilty of counts five and six of the trial information: indecent Contact with a Child, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.12(1) and § 903B.2. (Verdict)(App. pp. 40-43). Fontenot was found not guilty of count three and four and the jury could not reach a verdict on counts one and two. (Verdict)(App. pp. 40-43). The State filed a motion to dismiss counts one and two. (02/18/2019 Motion to Dismiss)(App. p. 48). By Court order both counts were dismissed. (02/18/2019 Dismissal) (App. pp. 49-50).

On February 15, 2019, Fontenot was sentenced to: confinement to the Linn County jail for a period of 300 days, with all but 120 days suspended (Count 5) and confinement to the Linn County jail for a period of 300 days, with all but 120 days suspended (Count 6). The sentence was ordered to run concurrently. Fontenot was also fined \$625.00 plus applicable surcharges on both counts. Fontenot was also required to register as a sex offender under section 901A. Fontenot was also placed on special probation under Iowa Code § 903A for a period of 10 years. (Order of Disposition)(App. pp. 44-47).

Fontenot filed a timely notice of appeal on February 20, 2019. (Notice)(App. p. 51).

Facts

In July of 2016, eleven year old H.N.'s younger sister, K.F. told their mother that she had a secret to tell her. K.F. told their mother that she had a "secret from sissy" [H.N.] that she was not supposed to tell. H.N. and K.F.'s mother asked

what the secret was. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 39, L21-25). K.F. told her mother that Fontenot had been "touching" H.N. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 139, L1; Vol. III. p. 39, L21-25). H.N.'s mother spoke with her and after first denying the allegation H.N. told her mother that Fontenot was touching her inappropriately. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 139, L7-8; Vol. III. p. 40, L2-7).

The following day, H.N.'s stepfather went to the Marion Police Department and the police instructed him to take H.N to a local hospital. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 43, L8-10). H.N's parents then took her to Child Protection Services. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 43, L10-14).

H.N. and her parents were interviewed by staff at the St. Luke's Child Protection Center (CPC). (Tr. Vol. III, p. 43, L13-22). H.N. underwent a medical evaluation by a physician at St. Luke's Child Protection Center. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 80, L8-13). No residual physical diagnostic sign of sexual abuse during H.N's examination. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 87, L8-11).

H.N. also underwent a forensic interview at CPC by interview Rachel Haskin, which was recorded. (Tr. Vol. IV p. 7, L6-11; Ex. 1).

During the trial, H.N. testified that she was six or seven years old when Fontenot first began "doing something bad" to her; they were camping in Minnesota when it first started. (Tr. Vol. II p. 122, L22-25). H.N. stated that during that trip Fontenot rubbed up and down her leg and it made her feel uncomfortable. (Tr. Vol. II p. 123, L4-6).

H.N. testified the next time Fontenot touched her was in her home in Marion, Iowa. (Tr. Vol. II p. 124, L15-19). H.N. remembered Fontenot touching her vagina while she was in her bedroom when she was six or seven years old. (Tr. Vol. II p. 125, L12-17). She stated that Fontenot rubbed her vagina above her pants and that sometimes he would rub her under her pants, above her underwear. (Tr. Vol. II p. 125, L17-23; p. 126, L1-3). H.N. testified that Fontenot referred to this

inappropriate touching as "tickle time". (Tr. Vol. II p. 130, L3-4).

H.N. testified that the last time Fontenot touched her, was in her brother's room, while she was sitting on a couch. (Tr. Vol. II p. 128, L2-9). H.N. testified she was 11 years old and he touched her under her underwear with his hand, rubbed her vagina and put his finger in her vagina. (Tr. Vol. II p. 127, L2-19).

Fontenot testified in his own defense. (Tr. Vol. V. p. 61, L1-p.98, L16). Fontenot denied sexually abusing H.N.; he specifically testified that he never touched H.N. inappropriately. (Tr. Vol. V. p. 72, L2-3). Fontenot also denied ever rubbing H.N.'s pubic region when he flipped her. (Tr. Vol. V. p. 72, L18-24). Fontenot denied ever touching H.N's private region when he was tickling her. (Tr. Vol. V. p. 73, L12-14). Fontenot denied that he ever used "tickle time" to touch H.N. inappropriately. (Tr. Vol. V. p. 79, L15-24).

Fontenot also denied ever going to a camping trip to Minnesota with H.N. (Tr. Vol. V. p. 84, L22-24).

Any additional relevant facts will be discussed below.

Argument

I. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY DETERMINED THAT H.N.'S INADMISSIBLE CHILD PROTECTION CENTER VIDEO WAS NON-HEARSAY UNDER IOWA RULE OF EVIDENCE 5.801(D)(1).

Standard of Review: The court reviews hearsay claims as errors of law. State v. Buenaventura, 660 N.W.2d 38, 50 (Iowa 2003). Hearsay must be excluded as evidence at trial unless admitted as an exception or exclusion under the hearsay rule or some other provision. State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 589 (Iowa 2003).

Preservation of Error: The State filed notice of its intent to present the video of H.N.'s forensic interview with Rachel Haskin, a forensic interviewer with Child Process Center at St. Luke's Hospital. (Notice of Intent)(App.pp. 20-22). During the trial, the State argued for the inclusion of the video under the residual hearsay exception. Iowa R. Evid.

5.801(d)(1) and Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(1)(B). The State stated the exception "...would allow such a video to be entered" based on "... requirements of trustworthiness, materiality, necessity, service in interest of justice, and notice." (Tr. Vol. III, 185, L13-188, L13; p. 190, L2-7; p. 192, L2-25). The State further argued that the CPC video should be admitted because "the cross-examination... to H.N. challenges her credibility and also challenges that her testimony was not consistent or that she had recently fabricated it or recanted or by an improper influence or motive when she was testifying." (Tr. Vol. III, p. 186, L7-13).

Defense counsel objected on the grounds that the State's request to play the CPC video did not meet the residual exception because it: did not rise to the level of necessity needed to admit the video in evidence. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 188, L15-p. 189, L17, p. 193, L2-8; p.194, L5-10). The Court ruled that the video was admissible based on the video not being submitted for the truth of the matter asserted. (Tr. Vol. III, p.

L13-24). Therefore error was preserved. State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 208 (Iowa 1983).

Discussion: Rule 5.801(d)(1)(B) provides that a prior consistent statement of a declarant–witness is admissible if the declarant has testified, was subjected to cross-examination regarding the statement, and the prior statement "is offered to rebut an express or implied charge that the declarant recently fabricated it or acted from a recent improper influence or motive in so testifying." See Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(d)(1)(B) (2015). This exception requires that the prior statement must be offered to rebut the charge that the declarant recently fabricated.

In <u>State v. Johnson</u>, the State introduced, and the district court admitted, the forensic interview of a child alleging sexual abuse against the defendant under Rule 5.801(d)(1)(B). <u>See State v. Johnson</u>, 539 N.W.2d 160, 161-62 (Iowa 1995). The Supreme Court reversed, finding that "a witness's prior consistent statement is admissible as non-

hearsay to rebut a charge of improper motive under Iowa rule of evidence 801(d)(1)(B) only if the statement was made before the alleged improper motive to fabricate arose." Id. at 165 (emphasis in original). Therefore, the Court found the prior consistent statement was inadmissible under the Rule because it was made after the accusations of sexual abuse. Id.

This case is indistinguishable from <u>Johnson</u>. As in <u>Johnson</u>, the challenged statements were made during a forensic interview at a child protection center. <u>See id</u>. at 161. Exhibit 1, the videotape of the forensic interview was clearly made *after* H.N. accused Fontenot of sexual abuse; in fact, the whole reason the forensic interview was conducted was to gather more information for the police investigation.

Because the prior consistent statement was made only after H.N. had already accused Fontenot of sexual abuse, it is clearly not admissible as a non-hearsay prior consistent statement under Rule of Evidence 5.801(d)(1)(B). See id. at

165.

A. By finding the video was non-hearsay, the district court allowed inadmissible hearsay into evidence.

The Iowa Rules of Evidence define hearsay as an out-of-court statement offered into evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c) (2017). The Court determines whether a statement is hearsay by examining the purpose of the offered testimony. State v. Horn, 282 N.W.2d 717, 724 (Iowa 1979) (citing State v. Jones, 271 N.W.2d 761, 767 (Iowa 1978)). The State, as the proponent of the hearsay, has the burden of proving it falls within an exception to the hearsay rule. State v. Cagley, 638 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 2001).

Hearsay statements are not admissible unless they fall within a recognized exception as permitted by the Iowa Constitution, a statute, or a rule. Iowa R. Evid. 5.802 (2017). Subject to the condition of relevance, "[t]he district court has no discretion to deny the admission of hearsay if it falls within an exception, or to admit it in the absence of a provision

providing for admission." State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6, 18 (Iowa 2006). Inadmissible hearsay is "considered to be prejudicial to the non-offering party unless otherwise established." State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 589 (Iowa 2003) (citing State v. Ross, 573 N.W.2d 906, 910 (Iowa 1998)).

Exhibit 1, the video of H.N.'s forensic interview with Haskin, includes inadmissible hearsay. Its contents are clearly out-of-court statements, and it was entered into evidence by the State to prove the truth of the matter asserted—that Fontenot engaged in inappropriate sexual contact with H.N. See Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c). See also State v. McKeever, 804 N.W.2d 314, 2011 WL 3115470, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011) (unpublished table decision) ("[T]he videotape [of the child's interview at the child protection center] clearly constitutes hearsay"). No exception to the rule of hearsay applies to the exhibit that would render its contents admissible.

Notably, the statements do not fall under the medical

diagnosis or treatment exception to hearsay. Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.803(4) provides "[s]tatements for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment" are "not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness." Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(4) (2017). It states:

Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

Id.

The Iowa Supreme Court has adopted a two-part test for determining whether statements may be properly characterized as statements for the purposes of medical diagnosis and treatment under Rule 5.803(4). State v. Long, 628 N.W.2d 440, 443 (Iowa 2001). "[F]irst, the declarant's motive in making the statement must be consistent with the purposes of promoting treatment; and second, the content of the statement must be such as is reasonably relied on by a physician in treatment or diagnosis." Id. (quoting United

States v. Renville, 779 F.2d 430, 436 (8th Cir. 1985)).

The record reveals Haskins's interview with H.N. was a "forensic interview." (Tr. Vol. IV, p. 7, L6-11). "Forensic" is defined as "belonging to courts of justice." Black's Law Dictionary 648 (6th ed. 1990). It is also defined as "[u]sed in or suitable to courts of law or public debate" and "[o]f, relating to, or involving the scientific methods used for investigating crimes." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). The forensic interview was done not for the purpose of medical treatment or diagnosis, but to assist law enforcement with the investigation of a sexual abuse case. See State v. Bentley, 739 N.W.2d 296, 299–00 (Iowa 2007) (considering characterization of interview as "forensic interview," among other factors, in determining purpose of Child Protection Center interview of child sexual abuse victim was to make record of past criminal events); State v. Moore, 808 N.W.2d 449, 2011 WL 4950180, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011) (unpublished table decision) ("We question [whether the

testimony was admissible under the medical diagnosis exception], especially with respect to the forensic interviewer and the child protective worker, as there was minimal evidence showing the children's statements to these witnesses satisfied the two-part test for admissibility detailed in State v. Tracy, 482 N.W.2d 675, 681 (Iowa 1993)); State v. Tyson, 851 N.W.2d 854, 2014 WL 2346237, at *7–8 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014) (unpublished table decision) (finding a child victim's statements to a forensic examiner were not admissible under the statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment exception).

In explaining why the forensic interview was conducted, the lead detective, Andrea Wilson, in the case testified she calls the Child Protection Center if she feels it is necessary. Wilson also testified that she does not talk to the children [who make the allegations]. (Tr. Vol. III, p.148, L4-9). It is clear that the forensic interview is utilized to gather additional information for law enforcement to determine if the allegations

should be pursued in a criminal investigation.

The interview was recorded and there was an observation room, where law enforcement officers can sit and watch the interview live. (Tr. Vol. III, p.150, L11-15). Also, there are phones of the walls of the observation and the interview room, and Wilson could "pick up the phone to talk to the interviewer". The police officer could get the interviewer to ask other questions. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 150, L18-25). Additionally, during the interview, Haskin, steps out of the room to speak with Wilson, and once Haskin re-enters the room, after speaking with Wilson, she asks H.N. additional questions. (Ex.1 12:42:58). The additional questions that Haskin asked were "investigative" questions including: how H.N. and Fontenot would communicate, what type of phone H.N. used to talk to Fontenot, and if H.N. still had any text messages or Facebook messages from Fontenot saved. (Ex.1 12:44:19). All of this information was later used by Wilson to request the Facebook messenger records between Fontenot

and H.N. (Tr. Vol. III, p. 153, L3-6).

There is no information that supports H.N. made these statements with the purposes of promoting her treatment; rather, it appears the interview was done with the sole purpose to assist law enforcement with their investigation of Fontenot. Additionally, there is no indication from the record that the statement was relied on by a physician or medical personnel for H.N.'s treatment or diagnosis. Thus, the exhibit's contents are not admissible under Rule 5.803(4).

See Long, 628 N.W.2d at 443; Tyson, 2014 WL 2346237, at *7–8 (finding child's statements to forensic interview did not meet the exception).

The district court abused its discretion to allow the inadmissible hearsay, without an exception. By allowing the CPC video, the court allowed the jury to hear H.N's prior consistent statement, additional damaging evidence and details that were not contained in H.N.'s in person trial testimony.

For example, at trial, H.N. never mentioned that Fontenot touched her breasts while simultaneously touching her vagina, however in Exhibit 1, H.N. stated that Fontenot touched her breast under her sports bra. (Ex.1 12:11: 01). At trial, H.N. never testified that Fontenot touched his penis while touching her vagina, however, in Exhibit 1, H.N. testified he touched his penis when he touches her. (Ex. 1 12:28: 15).

Also in Exhibit 1, H.N. provided details about a conversation she had with Fontenot telling him that he "should not be doing this to me" and Fontenot responded that "he is going to keep doing it to you until someone finds out." (Ex. 1 12:39:18). This is information H.N. did not testify about during her trial testimony.

In contrast to her trial testimony, on Exhibit 1, H.N. also stated that she told Fontenot that she and E.M. discussed "tickle time" and that Fontenot responded by stating "she does not need to know my business..." and that Fontenot threatened to "stop buying her stuff and take away her phone"

if she told somebody. (Ex. 1 12:40:13). This extra information was not cumulative and it was prejudicial to Fontenot.

The admission of the video allowed the State to improperly bolster H.N.'s credibility and corroborate her prior statements.

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