IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-0295

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

TIMOTHY MICHAEL FONTENOT,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR LINN COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MARY E. CHICHELLY, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

SHERYL SOICH
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
sherri.soich@ag.iowa.gov

JERRY VANDER SANDEN
Linn County Attorney

JORDAN SCHIER
Assistant Linn County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

In *State v. Rojas*, the Iowa Supreme Court interpreted Iowa Code section 915.38(3) and the residual hearsay exception,³ and concluded that forensic interviews of child sex abuse victims may be admitted under that exception. *See Rojas*, 524 N.W.2d at 663; *see also* Iowa Code § 915.38(3) (providing that recorded statements of child sexual abuse victims may be admitted into evidence if the statements substantially comport with the requirements of the residual exception). To invoke the residual hearsay exception, the offering party must meet five requirements: trustworthiness, materiality, necessity, service of the interests of justice, and notice. *Id.* at 662–63. Here, the *Rojas* factors have been satisfied.

1. Trustworthiness.

In *Rojas*, the Iowa Supreme Court reviewed the tape of a forensic interview similar to the one in this case and concluded it had “sufficient circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness.” *Rojas*, 524 N.W.2d at 663. The *Rojas* court based its conclusion on several

³ Former Rules of Evidence 5.803(24) and 5.804(b)(5) were in effect when *Rojas* was decided. These rules were consolidated in 2009 into Rule 5.807, and “cases decided under either former Iowa Rule 5.803(24) or 5.804(b)(5) should provide authority with respect to interpretation of the new Iowa Rule 5.807.” *See* Laurie Kratky Doré, 7 Iowa Practice Series, Evidence § 5.807:1.

factors: (1) “[t]he interviewer asked [the victim] open-ended, non-leading questions”; (2) the victim provided corroborating details, such as where other family members were when the abuse happened; (3) the victim described matters beyond the normal understanding of “the average ten-year-old,” such as how “something white c[ame] from her father’s penis”; (4) the victim’s statements were consistent; and (5) the videotape was “more reliable than many other forms of hearsay because the trier of fact could observe for itself how the questions were asked, what the declarant said, and the declarant’s demeanor.” *Rojas*, 524 N.W.2d at 663.

The considerations that led the *Rojas* court to find the statements to be trustworthy are present here. For example, the trained forensic interviewer, Rachel Haskin, asked broad and open-ended questions. *See generally* Court’s Exhibit 1. She asked H.N. why she was there, and H.N. brought the subject of her “uncle” and his inappropriate touching into the conversation. *See* Court’s Exhibit 1. Moreover, H.N. provided various corroborating details, including the locations of the touching and the presence of family members in the home. *See* Court’s Exhibit 1. H.N.’s description of the molestation was beyond the ken of a typical eleven-year-old. *See*

Court's Exhibit 1 (H.N. describes Fontenot putting his finger inside of her vagina, touching her chest at the same time, and touching his own genitals periodically while touching her). Further, the victim's statements were consistent throughout the interview. *See* Court's Exhibit 1. Finally, as in *Rojas*, H.N.'s statements to Rachel Haskin were more reliable than other forms of hearsay because the factfinder could observe the actual out-of-court statements. The taped forensic interview allowed the jury to evaluate the credibility of the victim's statements by assessing her tone, tenor, body language, and demeanor in the very context in which the statements were made and were therefore "more reliable than many other forms of hearsay." *See Rojas*, 524 N.W.2d at 633.

2. Materiality.

The evidence of H.N.'s statements to forensic interviewer Rachel Haskin recounting the molestation was material. *See* Doré, Evidence § 5.807:1 ("Although the cases have not yet fully explored the meaning of this requirement, materiality probably requires only relevance to prove a non-trivial fact."). As the court said in *Rojas*, "Because the videotape contained [the victim's] statement that [the

defendant] sexually abused her, the materiality requirement is clearly met.” *Rojas*, 524 N.W.2d at 663.

3. Necessity.

While the evidence of H.N.’s taped interview was not the only evidence recounting Fontenot’s sexual misconduct, it was in some respects more detailed than her trial testimony two years later. The statements to Rachel Haskin were more specific and were obviously made closer in time to the molestation, containing details such as the description of clothing she and Fontenot were wearing two days earlier at the time of the last touching incident. *See* Court’s Exhibit 1. The more detailed contemporaneous statements in the recorded interview made it the most probative evidence on the subject, and thus necessary. *See Neitzel*, 801 N.W.2d at 623 (“The admission of the evidence was necessary because [the victim] was of a young age when the abuse occurred and unable to testify to the abuse at trial years later, making the close-in-time video recitation from [the victim] the most probative evidence of the abuse that occurred.”); *accord Rojas*, 524 N.W.2d at 663 (finding evidence necessary where victim recanted); *State v. Kone*, 562 N.W.2d 637, 638 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) (same); *see also People v. Katt*, 662 N.W.2d 12 (Michigan

2003) (“...as time goes on, a child’s perceptions become more and more influenced by the reactions of the adults with whom the child speaks. It is for that reason that the tender-years rule prefers a child’s first statement over later statements. By analogy, the child’s second statement is preferable to still later statements. Similarly, if [the victim’s] mother had a motive to induce her son to lie, she would have had much more opportunity to influence him before trial than before the [forensic] interview.”). The fact that H.N. did not recant her allegations or retreat at trial does not make the CPC interview unnecessary:

While [the victim] was able to answer most of the State’s questions on direct examination, her answers were brief and provided only the basic details of the alleged abuse. [The victim] was unable to answer or clearly answer more specific and detailed questions, particularly those advanced during cross-examination. ... Having viewed the videotape, we agree with the district court’s assessment that the videotaped interview provided some responses that could not be successfully elicited from [the victim] during trial, and served to clarify and place in context other answers.

State v. Green, No. 04-0339, 2005 WL 1629993, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. July 13, 2005); *State v. Pantaleon*, No. 15-0129, 2016 WL 740448, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 24, 2016) (“There was no physical evidence to

support the child's report and [the defendant] testified the child was lying... Consistency of the child's statement and the child's demeanor were key in assessing the child's credibility, making the video necessary.") The same is true in this case.

4. Service of the Interests of Justice.

Admission of the forensic tape under the residual exception also advanced the interests of justice and the general purposes of the rules of evidence. As the *Rojas* court concluded, admission of the taped interview "advances the goal of truth-seeking..." See *Rojas*, 524 N.W.2d at 663; see also, e.g., *State v. Cagle*, No. 17-1663, 2019 WL 1936271, at *7 (Iowa Ct. App. May 1, 2019); *Pantaleon, id.*; *State v. Hopwood*, No. 13-1479, 2015 WL 6509746, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 28, 2015); *State v. Olds*, No. 14-0825, 2015 WL 6510298, at *7–8 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 28, 2015); *State v. Green*, No. 04-0339, 2005 WL 1629993, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. July 13, 2005); *In re A.J.S.*, No. 03-1675, 2004 WL 796185, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 14, 2004). In short, providing jurors with the recording of a minor victim's forensic interview furthers the interests of justice in a child sex abuse prosecution and did so here.

5. Notice.

Finally, the State gave notice of its intention to present evidence of H.N.'s recorded interview early on in the case. February 28, 2018 State's Notice of Intent to Present Victim [']s] Video Statement Pursuant to Iowa Code § 915.38(3); App. 20-22. Although the prosecutor indicated at the start of trial that he did not intend to use the CPC interview, he reserved the right to present the recording if the circumstances changed at trial; he noted that he would inform the court in chambers if that were the case, which he did after H.N. was cross-examined. Tr. Vol. I p. 16, lines 9-21; Vol. III p. 185, line 5 – p. 194, line 24.

In sum, each of the *Rojas* factors was satisfied here. The court properly admitted evidence of H.N.'s forensic interview under the residual exception to the hearsay rule and Iowa Code section 915.38(3). Fontenot's contention to the contrary should be rejected.

B. Iowa Rule of Evidence 801(d)(1)(b).

The evidence of the CPC interview was also admissible as a prior consistent statement. As Professor Laurie Doré has explained:

To be admissible under Rule 5.801(d)(1)(B), the party seeking to admit the prior consistent statement must establish the following four elements: (1) the declarant must testify at trial

and be subject to cross-examination concerning the prior statement; (2) there must be an express or implied charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive against the declarant; (3) the prior statement must be consistent with the declarant's challenged in-court testimony; and (4) the prior consistent statement must be made before the alleged motive to fabricate or improper influence arose. Thus, if cross-examination expressly or impliedly suggests that the witness' in-court testimony results from an improper motive or influence or is the product of recent fabrication, an out-of-court statement consistent with the in-court testimony may be admissible on the issue of credibility and as substantive evidence.

Doré, *Evidence* § 5.801:7 (2017) (footnotes omitted); Iowa R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(b); *State v. Johnson*, 539 N.W.2d 160, 164–65 (Iowa 1995) (adopting framework set out in *Tome v. United States*, 513 U.S. 150, 163–66 (1995) regarding timing of the motive to fabricate).⁴

⁴ Although prior consistent statements under Rule 5.801(d)(1)(b) are deemed to be non-hearsay and are therefore admissible as substantive evidence, the court here admitted the CPC interview “not... for the truth of the matter asserted.” Tr. Vol. III p. 194, line 13 – p. 195, line 5; Vol. V p. 4, line 2 – p. 7, line 17 (the trial court and the parties discuss and the defendant objects to Jury Instruction 12, which distinguishes between statements made under oath and statements not made under oath, which may be used “only... as a basis for disregarding all or any part of the witness’s testimony”); See Jury Instruction 12; App. —. Although this instruction incorrectly prohibited the jury’s consideration of the CPC interview as substantive evidence, the error inured to the defendant’s benefit. Further, as a concession to the defendant, the court also admitted

In this case, when defense counsel cross-examined H.N., he challenged her credibility by questioning her about her forensic interview and her deposition testimony. For instance, counsel pointed out that H.N. “never mentioned this camping trip story” during her CPC interview with Rachel Haskin, and counsel discussed H.N.’s prior statements in detail. Tr. Vol. II p. 143, line 18 – p. 155, line 25. He challenged the concept that her memory was “getting better” over time and wondered aloud whether she was just guessing when she said that she thought she told the forensic interviewer about the camping trip. Tr. Vol. II p. 148, line 11 – p. 149, line 4. Counsel continued with this theme during his closing argument:

Her allegations are inconsistent about the times that she brought up. Again, with the idea of the camping and whether her breasts were touched. She brought up some story about a recliner here that she never mentioned in the CPC interview or in her deposition.

The most important thing I’d like to point out about [H.N.]’s testimony is you can say, you can say that she’s a child, and she is. And you can say it would be natural for a child to forget things or be uncomfortable or be uncertain, but why does her memory get better over time? She goes from talking about certain incidents on the CPC tape, that she doesn't mention here in

H.N.’s deposition. Tr. Vol. III p. 188, line 15 – p. 194, line 24; Vol. IV p. 23, line 7 – p. 24, line 11 (H.N.’s deposition read into the record).

court, to not being sure about anything in her deposition, to then coming here ten months after that and being sure about everything. How come she got better -- how come her memory got better?

Tr. Vol. V p. 33, line 19 – p. 34, line 8.

The criteria of Rule 5.801(d)(1)(b) were satisfied here. The timing of the express or implied recent fabrication allegation comports with the requirements of the rule. In *State v. Johnson*, the Iowa Supreme Court overruled *State v. Gardner*, 490 N.W.2d 838, 840-42 (Iowa 1992), and concluded that a statement is admissible as a prior consistent statement only if it was made “before the alleged recent fabrication, improper influence or motive to fabricate arose.” *Johnson*, 539 N.W.2d at 165; *United States v. Beaulieu*, 194 F.3d 918, 920 (8th Cir. 1999) (statements by sex abuse victim made to her mother, friend, nurse and psychologist were not admissible as prior consistent statements because “defense counsel simply argued S.L. had made up the story from the start”).

Fontenot contends that his case is indistinguishable from *Johnson*. Defendant’s Brief, p. 17. In *Johnson*, however, the motive to fabricate arose at the inception of the allegations. The thirteen-year-old victim was having difficulty getting along with Johnson – her

adoptive father – and her mother, both of whom disapproved of the victim’s boyfriend. *Johnson*, 539 N.W.2d at 161. Because the victim’s mother had sent her to live with Johnson and Johnson was considering sending his daughter away to the Masonic Children’s Home in Illinois, his theory of defense was that she concocted false sexual allegations against him to win freedom from her strict and disapproving parents. *Id.*

Here, in contrast, the defense sought to impeach the victim by suggesting that she was adding allegations or *changing* her story, starting from the initial disclosure to the forensic interview to the deposition, and culminating in her trial testimony. The defendant’s suggestions that the victim’s memory was getting better and better by the time of trial is a different theory of defense than Johnson’s, and it puts her recorded statements squarely in the category of prior consistent statements admitted to rebut an express or implied charge of recent fabrication. The charge of fabrication in this case was that the victim was lying at trial, and her earlier CPC statements were admissible to establish that she made the same allegations in substance from the outset. The CPC interview was properly admitted.

C. Harmless Error.

Although the State maintains that evidence of the forensic interview in this case was necessary and properly admitted, it alternatively argues that if this court disagrees, it should find the admission of the recorded CPC interview harmless. “This court has a long history of not reversing [convictions] on the ground of technical defects in procedure unless it appears in some way they have prejudiced the complaining party.” *State v. Negrete*, 486 N.W.2d 297, 299 (Iowa 1992) (internal citation omitted). The State can establish harmless error by showing that the rights of the complaining party have not been so injuriously affected that a miscarriage of justice occurred. *State v. Traywick*, 468 N.W.2d 452, 454-55 (Iowa 1991). Courts “consider a variety of circumstances in determining the existence of harmless error, including the existence of overwhelming evidence of guilt.” *State v. Parker*, 747 N.W.2d 196, 209 (Iowa 2008). Here, the allegations that H.N. made during her CPC interview, while more specific, were largely consistent with her trial testimony. Given her credible testimony at trial, it is unlikely that the jurors would have reached a different conclusion had they not heard the CPC interview. *See Pantaleon, id.* at *2 (“Finally, even

if the [CPC] video evidence was unnecessary, the evidence was merely cumulative and therefore not prejudicial.”). If the court finds that the evidence was unnecessary or otherwise inadmissible, it should also conclude its admission was harmless. Fontenot’s convictions for indecent contact with a child should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the State respectfully requests that the court affirm Timothy Michael Fontenot’s convictions for two counts of indecent contact with a child.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

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